STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 28 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
MIKELL R. SCARBOROUGH, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

Appellate Case No.: 2024-000947

---

Vicki Lynn Vergeldt, individually and as  
Successor Trustee of the John Vergeldt, Jr.  
Revocable living Trust dated September 27, 1978, .....Respondent,

v.  
John Edward Vergeldt and  
Teresa Shaw-Vergeldt, Defendants,

Of whom John Edward Vergeldt is the, .....Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Desa Ballard (S.C. Bar No. 498)  
Harvey M. Watson III (S.C. Bar No. 74053)  
Haley Hubbard (S.C. Bar No. 103195)

BALLARD & WATSON

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, when Respondent failed to comply with a condition precedent to foreclosing on any asset of Appellant as set forth in in S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130(A)(2)?
2. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Stay Proceedings in light of the appeal of the underlying matter that was pending before the Court of Appeals?
3. Did the trial court err in finding that Appellant willfully violated the trial court's order dated September 28, 2023, and further finding Mr. Vergeldt to be in contempt?
4. Did the trial court err in failing to apply the proper standard of proof in finding Appellant to be in criminal contempt of court and further imposing sanctions against Appellant for criminal contempt?
5. Did the trial court err in considering and admitting the Affidavit of Kevin Lowry in support of Respondent's Motion for Contempt and/or Sanctions when the Affidavit was not timely filed pursuant to Rule 6(d), SCRPC?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The orders on appeal arise from litigation initiated by Respondent Vicki Lynn Vergeldt (hereinafter “Vicki”) to enforce a judgment against Appellant John Edward Vergeldt (hereinafter “John”) in the amount of \$361,092.88. Vicki obtained the judgment against John in Case No. 2016-CP-00820<sup>1</sup> before the Honorable Teasa Kay Weaver, Master in Equity for York County.

Following the entry of judgment, Vicki filed suit against John in Case No. 2021-CP-10-04257 on September 14, 2021, alleging that John took certain actions to prevent Vicki from collecting the judgment and asserting multiple causes of action including declaratory judgment, conversion, constructive trust, and conspiracy. (Complaint 2021 09 14). Additionally, Vicki instituted supplemental proceedings in Case No. 2021-CP-10-03640<sup>2</sup> on or about May 13, 2022. (Petition for Supplemental Proceedings 2022 05 13).

One of the assets at the center of the litigation is John’s primary residence, 1523 Star Flower Alley, Johns Island, SC 29455 (hereinafter the “property”), which Vicki seeks to have sold at public auction so that the proceeds from the sale may be applied towards the judgment.<sup>3</sup> On May 3, 2023, Vicki filed a Motion to Compel John to produce the property for interior and exterior inspection after John initially objected to the request as premature since the trial court had not issued an order declaring the property subject to execution. (Motion to Compel 2023 05 03). Vicki also filed an Amended Motion to Amend Complaint on July 7, 2023, seeking to add a cause of action against

---

<sup>1</sup> This case was previously pending on appeal before this Court as Appellate Case No. 2021-000816. On February 14, 2024, the Court issued an Opinion affirming the trial court, and on April 11, 2024, the Court issued an Order denying John’s Petition for Rehearing. Subsequently, John filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on May 13, 2024, which is currently pending before the Supreme Court.

<sup>2</sup> Pursuant to Consent Order filed on August 19, 2022, the supplemental proceedings were consolidated with the instant proceedings.

<sup>3</sup> At this time, there has been no order determining that the property is an asset that can be used to satisfy the judgment.

John to foreclose on the property. (Amended Motion to Amend Complaint 2023 07 07). A hearing on both motions was held before the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough on August 7, 2023, after which Judge Scarborough issued separate orders on September 28, 2023, granting both motions. (See Order Granting Motion to Amend and Order Granting Motion to Compel).

Vicki filed an Amended Complaint on October 13, 2023, after which John filed a Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint along with an Answer on October 30, 2023. The Order Granting Motion to Compel required John to make the property available to be appraised by a licensed appraiser agreed upon by both parties within forty-five (45) days of the issuance of the Order. After the appraisal scheduled for October 24, 2023, failed to go forward as planned due to the fault of the appraiser, John filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings on October 25, 2023, seeking to stay the collections proceedings until a decision was issued in the matter on appeal, Appellate Case No. 2021-000816. Vicki then filed a Motion for Contempt and/or for Sanctions alleging that John willfully violated the Order Granting Motion to Compel in failing to complete the appraisal.

A hearing on John and Vicki's motions was held before Judge Scarborough on January 8, 2024.<sup>4</sup> Following the hearing, Judge Scarborough denied John's Motions to Dismiss and Stay Proceedings and granted Vicki's Motion for Contempt and/or Sanctions. (See Order filed February 2, 2024). On February 12, 2024, John filed a Motion to Reconsider, and a re-hearing was held before Judge Scarborough on March 28, 2024, after which he issued an Order denying the Motion to Reconsider and affirming the Order filed on February 2, 2024. (See Form 4 Order filed March

---

<sup>4</sup> While in route to the hearing on January 8, 2024, John's attorney, Ms. Ballard, suffered an unexpected medical emergency which cause her to miss the hearing. Judge Scarborough, unaware of Ms. Ballard's medical emergency, proceeded with the hearing in the absence of John and his counsel.

28, 2024). John timely filed a Motion to Reconsider on April 8, 2024, which was denied. (See Order filed May 6, 2024). This appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

While this appeal arises from orders issued in Circuit Court Case No. 2021-CP-10-04257, it is necessary to examine the underlying litigation in order to understand the full context of the issues on appeal. The underlying matter stems from lengthy litigation between two surviving adult children of the decedent, John Vergeldt Jr. The decedent executed a Revocable Living Trust in 1978 that became irrevocable at the time of his death. The trust was amended and restated in July 2009.

The first litigation was filed in probate court as Case No. 2014-GC-46-012. The probate judge referred the case to the Circuit Court and it was assigned Case No. 2014-CP-46-01956. The action sought a declaratory judgment “related solely to the construction and interpretation of the Trust Agreement...” (Complaint 2.28.2014, p. 1). At the time the action was filed, the plaintiff Vicki Lynn Vergeldt, sued her brother John Vergeldt and her sister Patricia Vergeldt Downey. *Id.* She sought a declaratory judgment as to the construction of the trust, as well as a determination that she had probable cause to bring the lawsuit such that she was not excluded from the trust by the “no contest” provision of the trust. *Id.* The first litigation was resolved after a trial in 2015. (2015.08.31 Order). The trial judge specifically stated that he was awarding equitable relief only. “I make no finding relating to the liability of any party or the lack thereof, as no claim is stated for breach of any duty, and no relief is sought from the Court to compel the trustee to perform any duties that may be required. . .”<sup>5</sup> (2015 08 31 Order, p. 2). Additionally, the trial judge found the

---

<sup>5</sup> The trust document required construction of the trust under Michigan law, and all parties acknowledged the applicability of Michigan law to the issues before the Court).

settlor of the trust “likely became unable to manage or conduct his own affairs sometime between the late Fall of 2012, and March 2013, when his son John initiated a guardianship proceeding in York County Probate Court. *Id.* The trial judge found John Vergeldt “became successor trustee on March 6, 2013”<sup>6</sup> and prior to becoming successor trustee [on March 6, 2012], John’s duty was entirely to Mr. Vergeldt until Mr. Vergeldt’s death.” *Id.* at p. 8.

Less than a year later, Vicki filed a new lawsuit (Case No. 2016-CP-46-00820)<sup>7</sup> seeking to remove her brother, John, as successor trustee and for “additional or alternative injunctive relief” relating to John’s alleged failure to provide access to trust records. (2016.03.16 Petition for Removal of Trustee and related relief). Vicki did not seek damages against John, as all relief sought was equitable in nature. *Id.*

More than three years later, Vicki sought to amend her Petition to seek damages against John for the first time. (2019.05.14 Motion Amend Petition). John opposed the motion via counsel, but it was granted. (Order dated June 13, 2019). At subsequent trial, John objected to attempts to recover damages based upon the 2014 order concluding the 2014 case, and objected to expert testimony offered on the issue of alleged damages. Nevertheless, the trial court entered judgment against John in the total amount of \$361,092.88, “said amount being comprised of \$299,719.26 to restore the trust assets; additional expenses of \$5,870.00 and attorney’s fees of \$55,512.62.” (Order dated 2.2.2021 p. 12). After the trial court denied his motion to reconsider, John filed a Notice of Appeal on August 2, 2021, seeking to appeal the judgment. Vicki then

---

<sup>6</sup> This finding was linked to a report from Mr. Vergeldt’s primary care physician introduced during the guardianship proceeding, which report was dated May 6, 2013). *Id.* p. 8.

<sup>7</sup> Like the first action, this action was filed initially in probate court and removed to Circuit Court.

instituted the action, 2021-CP-10-04257, on September 14, 2021, from which the instant appeal arises.

In Vicki's initial Complaint, she asserted causes of action against John for a declaratory judgment, conversion, constructive trust, civil conspiracy, and temporary injunction. (Complaint 2021 09 14). In pertinent part, the Complaint alleged that John transferred certain assets subject to the judgment, including the property located at 1523 Star Flower Alley (the "property"), in order to prevent Vicki from collecting on the judgement in the underlying litigation. *Id.* Additionally, Vicki instituted supplemental proceedings in Case No. 2021-CP-10-03640 seeking to identify John's assets and collect the judgment against John despite the underlying matter and judgment having been appealed. (Petition for Supplemental Proceedings 2022 05 13). As part of the supplemental proceedings, Vicki served John with a Request to Produce the interior and exterior property for inspection on February 16, 2023. (Motion to Compel 2023 05 03, Exhibit A). John objected to this request on the grounds that there was no order determining that the property was subject to execution. *Id.*

Vicki later filed an Amended Motion to Amend Complaint on July 7, 2023, seeking to foreclose on the property and sell it at public auction, using the proceeds to satisfy the judgment. John objected, arguing that Vicki had failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130(A)(2) which required Vicki to post a bond either twice the amount of the value of the property or twice the amount of the judgment before she could seek to enforce a sale of the property. (Memo in Opp. to Motion to Amend 2023 08 04). Moreover, at the time Vicki filed the Amended Motion to Amend Complaint, there had been no order determining that the property was an asset that could be used to satisfy the judgment, and the property, which was John's primary residence, was exempt from attachment, levy, and sale pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-41-30(A)(1)(a). *Id.*

Despite John's objections, the trial court granted Vicki's motion to amend the complaint on September 28, 2023 (Order Granting Motion to Amend), and Vicki filed the Amended Complaint on October 13, 2023. The trial court also issued an order granting Vicki's motion to compel, requiring John to make the property available for an appraisal. (Order Granting MTC 2023 09 28). Specifically, the order required John to make the property available "to an agreed upon South Carolina licensed real estate appraiser and/or home inspector at a date and time convenient to the designated real estate appraiser/home inspector." (Order Granting MTC). The order also required the appraisal to take place within forty-five (45) days of the date of the order. *Id.*

After conferring with Vicki, John agreed to make the property available on October 24, 2023, at 9:00 am, as required by the trial court's order. The licensed appraiser, Kevin Lowry, was selected by Vicki.<sup>8</sup> On the morning of the appraisal, Mr. Vergeldt was present at the property at 8:45 am with Ms. Shaw, a real estate professional, who was there to attend the appraisal. (Affidavit of JEV 2024 01 05). At 9:43 am, over 40 minutes past the scheduled appraisal, Vicki's counsel emailed John's counsel to advise that Mr. Lowry was running late and had been "sitting in traffic for an hour." (Motion to Stay 2023 10 25, ¶12). Mr. Lowry had only notified Vicki's counsel of his delay a minute or two before the message was relayed to John's counsel. *Id.* John's counsel, Ms. Ballard, contacted John at approximately 9:45 am to inform him that Mr. Lowry was running late due to a traffic delay and would arrive in ten minutes. (Affidavit of JEV). John informed Ms. Ballard that he had a doctor's appointment at 10:30 am and would not continue to wait, at which point Ms. Ballard advised John that he could leave. *Id.*

---

<sup>8</sup> Vicki's counsel selected Mr. Lowry to which John's counsel had no objection. (Tr. March 28, 2024, P.12, lines 18-22).

When Mr. Lowry finally arrived at approximately 9:56 am, John was preparing to take his dogs out in the front yard before needing to leave for a doctor's appointment scheduled for 10:30 am.<sup>9</sup> *Id.* John informed Mr. Lowry that he was too late and would need to reschedule the appraisal due to his 10:30 am appointment. *Id.* Mr. Lowry attempted to enter the property to conduct the appraisal, at which time John raised his voice and demanded Mr. Lowry leave the property. *Id.* at ¶14.

Following the failed appraisal, John filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings due to the unnecessary burden placed on John in Vicki's quest to execute a judgment that was pending on appeal. (Motion to Stay 2023 10 25). Additionally, Vicki had threatened to move for sanctions against John for failure to complete the appraisal, even though the appraisal did not proceed due to Mr. Lowry's delay and failure to timely communicate the same. *Id.* As such, John requested that the supplemental proceedings be stayed until the Court of Appeals issued a ruling on the pending appeal.<sup>10</sup> *Id.* John also filed a Motion to Dismiss the amended complaint along with an Answer on October 30, 2023, seeking to dismiss the amended complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC due to Vicki's failure to post a bond as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130(A)(1). (MTD and Answer 2023 10 30).

On November 3, 2023, Vicki filed a Motion for Contempt and/or Sanctions, alleging that John willfully violated the trial court's Order Granting Motion to Compel by failing to cooperate and accommodate for "circumstances beyond Mr. Lowry's control," and seeking sanctions and attorney's fees. (Motion for Contempt 2023 11 03). An in-person hearing on all three motions was

---

<sup>9</sup> The doctor's office was 20-25 minutes away from the property.

<sup>10</sup> At the time the motion was filed, oral arguments on the appeal were confirmed and scheduled for November 8, 2023.

set for January 8, 2024, before Judge Scarborough. Prior to the hearing, John filed an affidavit on January 5, 2024, attesting to the events that took place on the date of the appraisal and opposing Vicki's motion for contempt. (Affidavit of JEV). On the same day, counsel for Vicki filed the Affidavit of Kevin Lowry attesting to his version of the events that transpired on October 24, 2023. (Affidavit of Kevin Lowry).

On January 8, 2024, Judge Scarborough heard all motions in the absence of John or his counsel.<sup>11</sup> Following the hearing, Judge Scarborough denied John's Motions to Dismiss and Stay Proceedings and granted Vicki's Motion for Contempt and/or Sanctions. (See Order filed February 2, 2024). Judge Scarborough held John in contempt specifically finding that he willfully and intentionally violated the court's Order Granting Motion to Compel by clear and convincing evidence. John filed a Motion to Reconsider, and a re-hearing was held before Judge Scarborough on March 28, 2024, after which he issued an Order denying the Motion to Reconsider and affirming the Order filed on February 2, 2024.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"An appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court when reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP." *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007). "In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, this Court must consider whether the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief." *Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 584 S.E.2d 413 (S.C. App. 2003). "In considering such a motion, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint." *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 628 S.E.2d 869 (S.C. 2006).

---

<sup>11</sup> See *supra* note 4.

“If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper.” *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999).

An appellate court should reverse a decision regarding contempt “only if it is without evidentiary support or the trial judge has abused his discretion.” *Durlach v. Durlach*, 359 S.C. 64, 70, 596 S.E.2d 908, 912 (2004) (quoting *Stone v. Reddix-Small*s, 295 S.C. 514, 516, 369 S.E.2d 840 (1988)). An abuse of discretion occurs either when the court is controlled by some error of law or where the order, based upon findings of fact, lacks evidentiary support.” *Miller v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 443, 652 S.E.2d 754 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Townsend v. Townsend*, 356 S.C. 70, 73, 587 S.E.2d 118, 119 (Ct. App. 2003)). Civil contempt must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. *Poston v. Poston*, 331, S.C. 106, 502 S.E.2d 86 (1988). In a criminal contempt proceeding, the burden of proof is beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* (citing *State v. Bowers*, 270 S.C. 124, 241 S.E.2d 409 (1978)). “Before a court may find a person in contempt, the record must clearly and specifically reflect the contemptuous conduct.” *Widman v. Widman*, 348 S.C. 97, 119, 557 S.E.2d 693, 705 (Ct.App.2001).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE COMPLAINT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISMISSED BECAUSE RESPONDENT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO FORECLOSING ON ANY ASSET OF APPELLANT.**

Vicki’s amended complaint seeks to enforce the judgment from the underlying litigation and execute said judgment by foreclosing on the property and through supplemental proceedings. (Amended Complaint). Specifically, Vicki “believes that she is entitled to have [the Property] foreclosed, have the equity of redemption barred, and have the Property sold at the next available

public sale.” Id. at ¶27. However, S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130(A)(2) provides that “a plaintiff may not enforce a sale of property after a notice of appeal is filed without giving an undertaking or bond to the defendant, with two good sureties, in double the appraised value of the property or double the amount of the judgment, conditioned to pay all damages the defendant may sustain by reason of the sale in case the judgment is reversed.”

John filed the notice of appeal to appeal the judgment against him on August 2, 2021. (Notice of Appeal 2021 08 02). Vicki filed the initial complaint in the instant action over a month after the notice of appeal was filed, and she filed the amended complaint seeking foreclosure and sale of the property over two years later on October 13, 2023. (See Amended Complaint). Clearly, Vicki is attempting to enforce the sale of the property after John appealed the judgment, however Vicki has failed to post a bond as required by S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130(A)(2), and until she does so, the trial court cannot consider the property to be subject to execution of the judgment.

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