RECEIVED

Dec 11 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
MIKELL R. SCARBOROUGH, MASTER-IN-EQUITY**

**Appellate Case No. 2024-000947
Lower Case No. 2021-CP-10-04257**

Vicki Lynn Vergeldt, individually, and as
Successor Trustee of the John Vergeldt, Jr.
Revocable Living Trust dated
September 27, 1978, Plaintiff..... Respondent,

v.

John Edward Vergeldt and
Teresa Shaw-Vergeldt, Defendants,

Of whom John Edward Vergeldt is the.....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT VICKI LYNN VERGELDT, INDIVIDUALLY, AND
AS SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE OF THE JOHN VERGELDT, JR. REVOCABLE LIVING
TRUST DATED SEPTEMBER 27, 1978**

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

ARGUMENT

Neither the Motion to Dismiss nor Motion to Stay Proceedings are immediately appealable, and it is improper for this Court to consider same at this time. Assuming *arguendo* the trial court’s rulings on these motions are immediately appealable, the same were properly determined. Similarly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding John to be in contempt of the Order to Compel as he willfully violated the same under any standard, and he was properly sanctioned as a result.

I. The trial court’s denial of the Motion to Dismiss is not immediately appealable, and, if it is/was the trial court properly determined same.

a. The trial court’s denial of the Motion to Dismiss is not immediately appealable.

Judge Scarborough's denial of the Motion to Dismiss is not immediately appealable.

Under S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330 (1976), as amended,

“The Supreme Court shall have appellate jurisdiction for correction of errors of law in law cases, and shall review upon appeal: (1) Any intermediate judgment, order or decree in law case involving the merits in actions commenced in the court of common pleas and general sessions, brought there by original process or removed there from any inferior court or jurisdiction, and final judgments in such actions; provided, that if no appeal be taken until final judgment is entered the court may upon appeal from such final judgment review any intermediate order or decree necessarily affecting the judgment not before appealed from; (2) an order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action; (3) a final order affecting a substantial right made in any special proceeding or upon a summary application in any action after judgment; and (4) an interlocutory order or decree in a court of common pleas granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing an injunction or granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver. S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330 (1976), as amended.

The provisions of the statute governing appeals are narrowly construed and serve the underlying policy favoring judicial economy and avoiding piecemeal appeals. See Stone v. Thompson, 426 S.C. 291, 826 S.E. 2d 868 (2019); Tillman v. Tillman, 420 S.C. 246, 801 S.E. 2d 757 (Ct. App. 2017). Only final judgments and certain interlocutory orders are appealable. See Watson v. Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 756 S.E. 2d 155 (Ct. App. 2014); Hagood v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 607 S.E. 2d 707 (2005). “An interlocutory order is not immediately appealable unless it involves the merits of the case or affects a substantial right.” Burkey v. Noce, 398 S.C. 35, 37, 726 S.E. 2d 229, 230 (Ct. App. 2012). The order must be final meaning there is nothing left for the Court to do and all issues have been disposed. See Good v. Hartford Accident & Indemn. Co., 201 S.C. 32, 41-42, 21 S.E. 2d 209, 212 (1942). An order that effectively forecloses a party from contesting the case on the merits affects a substantial right and is immediately

appealable; however, avoidance of trial is not a substantial right entitling a party to immediate appeal of an interlocutory order. McLaughlin v. Strickland, 279 S.C. 513, 309 S.E. 2d 787 (Ct. App. 1983); Shields v. Martin Maritta Corp., 303 S.C. 469, 402 S.E. 2d 482 (1991). Generally, the denial of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, is not immediately appealable. See Huntley v. Young, 319 S.C. 559, 560, 462 S.E. 2d 861 (1995); Moyd v. Johnson, 289 S.C. 482, 347 S.E. 2d 97 (1986).

However,

An order that is not directly appealable will nonetheless be considered if there is an appealable issue before the [c]ourt and a ruling on appeal will avoid unnecessary litigation...Generally, '[t]his [c]ourt reviews interlocutory orders when they contain other appealable issues....However, this court has declined to consider interlocutory issues even when accompanied by an appealable order, such as the grant of summary judgment, when the court found the issue to be novel and relating to the sufficiency of the allegations, when the trial court has not had an opportunity to rule....The supreme court has noted 'if the question involved will be inherent in the final judgment and can be presented on appeal from that judgment, it will be treated as an interlocutory order, review of which can only be had upon the general appeal. Watson v. Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 459, 756 S.E. 2d 155, 163-164 (Ct. App. 2014).

In this matter, John claims the Collection Case should be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, based upon Vicki's failure to comply with S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130(A)(1), SCRPC. John misinterprets this statute, but, even so, the Collection Case should not be dismissed as argued below. However, fact remains denial of the Motion to Dismiss does not establish the law of the case and does not foreclose John's rights to contest Vicki's allegations, and, as a result, the issues he has raised can be revisited at a later date making denial of the Motion to Dismiss interlocutory.

As a result, it is improper for the Court to review the trial court's denial of the Motion to Dismiss at this juncture and any issue on appeal related thereto should be dismissed.

b. Assuming *arguendo*, the trial court's denial of Motion to Dismiss is immediately appealable, the trial court properly denied same.

If this Court determines denial of the Motion to Dismiss is immediately appealable, no error occurred as John's reliance on S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130 (1976), as amended, is misplaced and the Amended Complaint states facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for foreclosure.

Under Rule 241, SCACR,

As a general rule, the service of a notice of appeal in a civil matter acts to automatically stay matters decided in the order, judgment, decree or decision on appeal, and to automatically stay the relief ordered in the appealed order, judgment, or decree or decision.

The exceptions to the general rule are found in statutes, court rules, and case law. Where specific grounds must be met before the exception applies, those conditions must be strictly complied with. A list of some, but not all of the exceptions to the general rule is: (a) Money judgments as provided in S.C. code Ann. §18-9-130. Rule 241 (a)-(b), SCACR.

S.C. Code §18-9-130(A)(1) provides,

A notice of appeal from a judgment directing the payment of money does not stay the execution of the judgment unless the presiding judge before whom the judgment was obtained grants a stay of execution. If the presiding judge grants a stay of execution and requires a bond or other surety to guarantee the payment of the judgment pending the appeal, the amount of the bond or other surety may not exceed the amount of the judgment or....(b) one million dollars, whichever is less, for all other entities or individuals." S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130(A)(1) (1976), as amended.

S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130(A)(2) (1976), as amended goes on to provide,

A plaintiff may not enforce a sale of property after a notice of appeal is filed without giving an undertaking or bond to the defendants, with two good sureties, in double the appraised value of the property or double the amount of the judgment, conditioned to pay all damages the defendants may sustain by reason of the sale in case the judgment was reversed. S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130(A)(2) (emphasis added).

In this matter, it is uncontested John is appealing the Judgment, and it does not appear he has sought a stay of execution from Judge Weaver, the presiding judge before whom the Judgment

was obtained, and, as a result, the stay contemplated by Rule 241, SCACR is inapplicable³. Regarding S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130(A)(2) (1976), as amended, it only applies to a plaintiff who wishes to, by its own clear and unambiguous language and terms, enforce a sale of property. S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130 (A)(2) (1976), as amended. The Collection Case is not yet in a procedural posture where Vicki would be enforcing a sale of the Property as the final hearing is scheduled on December 10, 2024. As a result, Vicki is not required, at this point, to post the bond required by S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130(A)(2) (1976), as amended. The requirement of the issuance of a bond only becomes applicable if Vicki were to obtain an order allowing her to foreclose the alleged lien on the Property represented by the Judgment and seek to enforce same by selling the Property.

Until John obtains a stay from Judge Weaver or Vicki is awarded a judgment of foreclosure and order for sale and seeks to enforce her rights thereunder, the stays provided for in Rule 241, SCACR and S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130 (1976), as amended, are inapplicable, and Vicki is not prohibited from proceeding with the Collection Case.

c. The Amended Complaint states a cause of action for foreclosure against John.

Aside from the questions of whether Rule 241 SCACR and S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130 are applicable, the Amended Complaint alleges facts sufficient to state a cause of action for foreclosure such that the trial court's denial of the Motion to Dismiss was proper and not an error of law.

Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, provides, "Every defense, in law or fact, to a cause of action in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim shall be asserted in the

³ John's Initial Brief indicates his counsel requested a stay from Judge Weaver; however, no motion or application has been filed in the Court of Common Pleas for York County, and no stay was requested at the hearing on the Motion to Reconsider and Alter or Amend in the Underlying Case, a copy of the transcript of which is included in Vicki's Designation of Matter to be Included on Appeal. (Pp. 1132-1198, ROA, S.C. Court of Appeals Case No.: 2021-000816 (Tr. of March 17, 2021 hearing on Defendant's Amened Motion to Reconsider).

responsive pleading thereto if one required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion.....(6) failure to state fact sufficient to constitute a cause of action.” Rule 12(b)(6), SCRC. “In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling solely on the allegations set forth in the complaint.” Doe v. Marion, 373, S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E. 2d 245, 247 (2007). “If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper.” Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E. 2d 69 (1999). “The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved on his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” Doe v. Marion, 373, S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E. 2d 245, 247 (2007). “The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action.” Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 416, 357 S.E. 2d 8, 9 (1987).

In this matter, the allegations of the Amended Complaint clearly demonstrate Vicki has pled entitlement to foreclosure of the lien against the Property encumbered by the Judgment. This is seen in the fact the allegations show: (1) Vicki has obtained and holds the Judgment in the Underlying Case, (2) the Judgment was transcribed in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Charleston County, (3) Vicki is informed and believes the Judgment constitutes a lien on the Property⁴, (4) John has made no payments toward the Judgment, (5) Vicki is entitled to have the

⁴ John’s Initial Brief appears to argue Vicki needs to obtain an order declaring the Property can executed against to be applied to or satisfy the Judgment, but S.C. Code Ann. §15-35-810 (1976), as amended, provides, “Final judgments and decrees entered in any circuit or district court...shall be declared to create a lien, shall constitute a lien upon the real estate of the judgment debtor situate in any county in this State in which the judgment or transcript thereof is entered....the lien to begin from the time of such entry upon the book of abstracts and indices and to continue for a period of ten years from the date of such final judgment or decree.” In other words, the Judgment, by being transcribed in Charleston County, automatically constitutes a lien on the Property against which Vicki can foreclose.

trial court determine the amount of the lien represented by the Judgment, and (6) Vicki is entitled to foreclose the lien to collect the amounts owed thereunder. (R. pp. 529-535). In other words, Vicki has alleged facts sufficient to state cause of action for foreclosure of the lien against the Property to collect amounts due under the Judgment when the allegations are viewed in a light most favorable to her. This is all that is required under the applicable standard even if the trial court or this Court has doubts about the allegations in the Amended Complaint⁵.

As a result, it was proper for the trial court to deny the Motion to Dismiss and the same is not an error of law.

d. John claims Vicki does not have standing to pursue collections against him, but he fails to provide analysis related thereto.

In the Motion to Dismiss and John's Initial Brief, there is some argument Vicki lacks standing to pursue collections against John. This argument is based on Vicki's purported failure to comply with S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130 (1976), as amended, and does not include an analysis of Vicki's standing; however, a brief analysis is worth making.

"Standing refers to a party's own right to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right." Powell ex rel. Kelley v. Bank of America, 379 S.C. 437, 444, 665 S.E. 2d 237, 241 (Ct. App. 2008). "Standing is....that concept of justiciability that is concerned with whether a particular person may raise legal arguments or claims." Bank of America, N.A. v. Draper, 405 S.C. 214, 219, 746 S.E. 2d 478, 481 (Ct App. 2013). "It concerns an individual's sufficient interest in the outcome of the litigation to warrant consideration of [the person's] position by a court." Id. "Standing is a fundamental requirement for instituting an action.

⁵ It is worth noting John addresses the standard of review used to determine whether Vicki has failed to state a cause of action but does not provide an analysis of same (*ie.* he does not address her allegations) instead relying on the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130 (1976), as amended, which, as argued *supra* provide him no relief.

Generally, a party must be a real party in interest to the litigation to have standing.” Id., 405 S.C. at 220; 746 S.E. 2d at 480 (Ct. App. 2013). “A real party in interest for purposes of standing is a party with a real, material, or substantial interest in the outcome of the litigation. It is ownership of the right sought to be enforced which qualifies one as a real party in interest.” Id.

In this matter, Vicki has standing to seek collection of the Judgment against John. This is because the Judgment was awarded to Vicki. (R. pp. 16-30, Feb. 2, 2021 Order). She still holds the Judgment and the right to enforce the Judgment. John does not appear to contest this conclusion since he only relies on the arguments related to S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-130 (1976). It also does not appear an argument related to standing as described herein was raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. Wilder v. Wilke Corp., 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E. 2d 732 (1998).

Accordingly, Vicki has standing to bring the Collection Action and to seek enforcement of the Judgment. Any other argument related thereto is not preserved for appeal.

II. The trial court’s denial of the Motion to Stay is not immediately appealable, and, if it is/was, the trial court properly determined same.

As with the Motion to Dismiss, the trial court’s denial of the Motion to Stay is not immediately appealable, and, even if it is/was, the trial court’s denial was proper and/or not an error of law.

a. The trial court’s denial of the Motion to Stay is not immediately appealable.

As discussed *supra.*, “only final judgments and certain interlocutory orders are immediately appealable.” See Watson v. Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 756 S.E. 2d 155, (Ct. App. 2014); Hagood v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 607 S.E. 2d 707 (2005). “An interlocutory order is not immediately appealable unless it involves the merits of the case or affects a substantial right.” Burkey v. Noce, 398 S.C. 35, 37, 726 S.E. 2d 229, 230 (Ct. App. 2012). An order that effectively

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